
Goodhue County Planning Commission
Government Center -  Board Room

509 West 5th St, Red Wing MN 55066

Planning Advisory Commission

7:00 PM Call Meeting To Order

Approval Of Current Agenda

Approval Of Previous Month's Meeting Minutes

January 14, 2019 Planning Commission Draft Meeting Minutes

MINUTES_JANUARY2019_PAC_DRAFT.PDF

Conflict/Disclosure Of Interests

Public Hearings:

PUBLIC HEARING: CUP Request To Elevate A Dwelling Within A Floodplain By Means Other Than Fill
Request submitted by Curt Caverly (Buyer) and John Enblom (Owner) to elevate a proposed dwelling above 
the base flood elevation of a Floodplain area by means of a “tuck under” garage foundation. Parcel 
43.230.0060. TBD Lake View Ave Red Wing, MN 55066. Lot 6, Block 1 of Wacouta Point Plat located in 
Sect 31 Twp 113, Range 13 in Wacouta Township. R1 Zoned District.  

PACPACKET_CAVERLY_REDACTED.PDF

PUBLIC HEARING: “Wildwood Gardens” Preliminary And Final Plat Review
Request submitted by Howard Stenerson (Owner) for Preliminary and Final Plat review of the proposed 
“Wildwood Gardens” Plat comprising approximately 56.45 acres. Parcels 43.135.0200 and 43.136.0380. 
TBD Wildwood Lane Red Wing, MN 55066. Part of the SE ¼ of Sect 35 and the SW ¼, SW ¼ of Sect 36 in 
Twp 113, Range 14 in Wacouta Township. A2 Zoned District.  

PACPACKET_STENERSON_REDACTED.PDF

PUBLIC HEARING: Request For CUP For A Utility-Scale Solar Energy System (SES)
Request for a CUP submitted by MN 121819 LLC (applicant) and Jonathan and Lora Luhman (owners) for a 
Utility-Scale Photovoltaic Ground 1 Megawatt Solar Energy System (SES) occupying approximately 6.65 
acres. Parcel 26.032.0400. TBD 390th Ave, Goodhue, MN 55027. Part of the NW ¼ of Sect 32 Twp 111 
Range 14 in Belvidere Township. A1 Zoned District.  

PACPACKET_LUHMAN_REDACTED.PDF

PUBLIC HEARING: Request For CUP For A Utility-Scale Solar Energy System (SES)
Request for a CUP submitted by MN 121819 LLC (applicant) and Andrew and Kim Huneke (owners) for a 
Utility-Scale Photovoltaic Ground 1 Megawatt Solar Energy System (SES) occupying approximately 7.31 
acres. Parcel 39.007.0301. TBD 180th Ave, Zumbrota, MN 55992. Part of the NW ¼ of Sect 07 Twp 109 
Range 15 in Pine Island Township. A1 Zoned District.  

PACPACKET_HUNEKE1.PDF

PUBLIC HEARING: Request For CUP For A Utility-Scale Solar Energy System (SES)
Request for a CUP submitted by MN 121819 LLC (applicant) and Andrew and Kim Huneke (owners) for a 
Utility-Scale Photovoltaic Ground 1 Megawatt Solar Energy System (SES) occupying approximately 10.42 
acres. Parcel 38.033.0100. TBD ST HWY 60, Zumbrota, MN 55992. Part of the E ½ of the NE ¼ of Sect 33 
Twp 110 Range 16 in Minneola Township. A1 Zoned District.  

PACPACKET_HUNEKE2_REDACTED.PDF

PUBLIC HEARING: Request For CUP For A Utility-Scale Solar Energy System (SES)
Request for a CUP submitted by MN 121819 LLC (applicant) and Paul Betcher (owners) for a Utility-Scale 
Photovoltaic Ground 1 Megawatt Solar Energy System (SES) occupying approximately 5.63 acres. Parcel 
33.027.0400. TBD CTY 9 BLVD, Goodhue, MN 55027. Part of the NE ¼ of Sect 27 Twp 111 Range 15 in 
Goodhue Township. A1 Zoned District.  

PACPACKET_BETCHER_REDACTED.PDF

Other-Discussion

Adjourn

Anyone interested is invited to attend. Agenda items may be subject to change. 

Goodhue County Land Use Management

w  Goodhue County Government Center w  509 West Fifth Street w  Red Wing w  Minnesota w  55066 w
w  Building w Planning w  Zoning w  Telephone: 651/385-3104 w Fax: 651/385-3106 w

1.

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:



Goodhue County Planning Commission
Government Center -  Board Room

509 West 5th St, Red Wing MN 55066

Planning Advisory Commission

7:00 PM Call Meeting To Order

Approval Of Current Agenda

Approval Of Previous Month's Meeting Minutes

January 14, 2019 Planning Commission Draft Meeting Minutes

MINUTES_JANUARY2019_PAC_DRAFT.PDF

Conflict/Disclosure Of Interests

Public Hearings:

PUBLIC HEARING: CUP Request To Elevate A Dwelling Within A Floodplain By Means Other Than Fill
Request submitted by Curt Caverly (Buyer) and John Enblom (Owner) to elevate a proposed dwelling above 
the base flood elevation of a Floodplain area by means of a “tuck under” garage foundation. Parcel 
43.230.0060. TBD Lake View Ave Red Wing, MN 55066. Lot 6, Block 1 of Wacouta Point Plat located in 
Sect 31 Twp 113, Range 13 in Wacouta Township. R1 Zoned District.  

PACPACKET_CAVERLY_REDACTED.PDF

PUBLIC HEARING: “Wildwood Gardens” Preliminary And Final Plat Review
Request submitted by Howard Stenerson (Owner) for Preliminary and Final Plat review of the proposed 
“Wildwood Gardens” Plat comprising approximately 56.45 acres. Parcels 43.135.0200 and 43.136.0380. 
TBD Wildwood Lane Red Wing, MN 55066. Part of the SE ¼ of Sect 35 and the SW ¼, SW ¼ of Sect 36 in 
Twp 113, Range 14 in Wacouta Township. A2 Zoned District.  

PACPACKET_STENERSON_REDACTED.PDF

PUBLIC HEARING: Request For CUP For A Utility-Scale Solar Energy System (SES)
Request for a CUP submitted by MN 121819 LLC (applicant) and Jonathan and Lora Luhman (owners) for a 
Utility-Scale Photovoltaic Ground 1 Megawatt Solar Energy System (SES) occupying approximately 6.65 
acres. Parcel 26.032.0400. TBD 390th Ave, Goodhue, MN 55027. Part of the NW ¼ of Sect 32 Twp 111 
Range 14 in Belvidere Township. A1 Zoned District.  

PACPACKET_LUHMAN_REDACTED.PDF

PUBLIC HEARING: Request For CUP For A Utility-Scale Solar Energy System (SES)
Request for a CUP submitted by MN 121819 LLC (applicant) and Andrew and Kim Huneke (owners) for a 
Utility-Scale Photovoltaic Ground 1 Megawatt Solar Energy System (SES) occupying approximately 7.31 
acres. Parcel 39.007.0301. TBD 180th Ave, Zumbrota, MN 55992. Part of the NW ¼ of Sect 07 Twp 109 
Range 15 in Pine Island Township. A1 Zoned District.  

PACPACKET_HUNEKE1.PDF

PUBLIC HEARING: Request For CUP For A Utility-Scale Solar Energy System (SES)
Request for a CUP submitted by MN 121819 LLC (applicant) and Andrew and Kim Huneke (owners) for a 
Utility-Scale Photovoltaic Ground 1 Megawatt Solar Energy System (SES) occupying approximately 10.42 
acres. Parcel 38.033.0100. TBD ST HWY 60, Zumbrota, MN 55992. Part of the E ½ of the NE ¼ of Sect 33 
Twp 110 Range 16 in Minneola Township. A1 Zoned District.  

PACPACKET_HUNEKE2_REDACTED.PDF

PUBLIC HEARING: Request For CUP For A Utility-Scale Solar Energy System (SES)
Request for a CUP submitted by MN 121819 LLC (applicant) and Paul Betcher (owners) for a Utility-Scale 
Photovoltaic Ground 1 Megawatt Solar Energy System (SES) occupying approximately 5.63 acres. Parcel 
33.027.0400. TBD CTY 9 BLVD, Goodhue, MN 55027. Part of the NE ¼ of Sect 27 Twp 111 Range 15 in 
Goodhue Township. A1 Zoned District.  

PACPACKET_BETCHER_REDACTED.PDF

Other-Discussion

Adjourn

Anyone interested is invited to attend. Agenda items may be subject to change. 

Goodhue County Land Use Management

w  Goodhue County Government Center w  509 West Fifth Street w  Red Wing w  Minnesota w  55066 w
w  Building w Planning w  Zoning w  Telephone: 651/385-3104 w Fax: 651/385-3106 w

1.

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

https://www.co.goodhue.mn.us/0dc739ef-4b17-43d4-a16a-e1d8d67b5c00


Page - 1 - 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
GOODHUE COUNTY, MN 

January 14th, 2019 MEETING MINUTES 
DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 

The meeting of the Goodhue County Planning Advisory Commission was called to order at 7:00 
PM by Chair Darwin Fox at the Goodhue County Government Center 3rd Floor Court Room in 
Red Wing, Minnesota. 

Roll Call 

Commissioners Present: Marc Huneke, Darwin Fox, Richard (Dick) Nystuen, Tom Gale, Barney 
Nesseth, Richard Miller and Sarah Pettit 
 
Commissioners Absent: Tom Drazkowski and Howard Stenerson 

Staff Present: Land Use Management Director Lisa Hanni, Zoning Administrator Mike Wozniak 
Zoning Assistants Ryan Bechel and Abby Breyfogle 

1. Approval of Agenda 

1Motion by Commissioner Nystuen; seconded by Commissioner Pettit to approve the meeting 
agenda. Motion carried 5:0  

2. Approval of Minutes 
2Motion by Commissioner Huneke; seconded by Commissioner Nystuen to approve the previous 
month’s meeting minutes. Motion carried 5:0  

3. Appointment of Chair, Vice-chair and BOA representative 
3Motion by Commissioner Nystuen; seconded by Commissioner Fox to appoint Sarah Pettit as 
Chair. Motion carried 5:0  

4Motion by Commissioner Nystuen; seconded by Commissioner Huneke to appoint Tom Gale 
Vice Chair. Motion carried 5:0  

Commissioner Nesseth arrived at 7:03 pm. 

5Motion by Commissioner Nesseth; seconded by Commissioner Nystuen to appoint Darwin Fox 
BOA representative. Motion carried 6:0  
 

4. Conflict/Disclosure of Interest  

There were no reported conflicts/disclosures of interest. 

5. Public Hearings 

PUBLIC HEARING: Request for Amendment to IUP for Non-Agricultural Use 
Associated with Agri-tourism (Wedding Barn Event Center) 
Request submitted by Randal and Barbara Kerkhoff (owners) to amend existing IUP to allow a 
Wedding Barn Event Center to operate from 8:00 AM until midnight (currently 8:00 AM to 
10:00 PM). Parcel 39.025.0401. 23897 510th St. Pine Island, MN 55963. Part of the SE ¼ of the 
SE ¼ of Sect 25 Twp 109, Range 15 in Pine Island Township. A2 Zoned District.  

The Applicants (Randal and Barbara Kerkhoff) were present to represent the application. 

Ryan Bechel (Bechel) presented the staff report and attachments.  

Lisa Hanni paused proceedings upon arrival at 7:06 pm to clarify that Richard Miller had 
been appointed to replace Len Fueling on the Planning Commission.  Commissioner Miller 
joined the commissioners for the remainder of the public hearings.   



Page - 2 - 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
GOODHUE COUNTY, MN 

January 14th, 2019 MEETING MINUTES 
DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 

 

Commissioner Miller stated that the facility is an asset to the township and there have been no 
complaints regarding the property.  

Chair Pettit opened the Public Hearing. 

Noone spoke for or against the request. 
6After Chair Pettit asked three times for comments, it was moved by 
Commissioner Fox and seconded by Commissioner Huneke to close the public 
hearing.  

Motion carried 7:0  
7Motion by Commissioner Gale seconded by Commissioner Miller, for the 
Planning Advisory Commission to: 

• Adopt the staff report into the record; 
• Accept the application, testimony, exhibits, and other evidence presented into the 

record; 

and recommend that the County Board of Commissioners APPROVE the request from Randal 
and Barbara Kerkhoff to amend IUP Z16-0072 (approved 11/01/16) to modify Wedding barn 
Event Center operational hours to 8am to midnight.   
Subject to the following conditions: 

1. Compliance with all necessary State and Federal registrations, permits, licensing, and 
regulations; 

2. Compliance with Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance, including but not limited to: 
ARTICLE 22   A-2, AGRICULTURE DISTRICT; and Article 11, Section 30; 

3. Compliance with Goodhue County Septic Ordinance, including compliance with septic 
system permitting requirement as administered by Land Use Management Department 
Environmental Health Staff; 

4. Review of the proposed event facility by a State of Minnesota licensed design 
professional to evaluate if the structure is in compliance with applicable Building Code 
standards and requirements for the intended use to be submitted to the Building Official.  
Any required improvements to the structure must be completed prior to start of 
operations. 

5. The owners will cooperate with inspections of the facility in coordination with Land Use 
Staff; 

6. The Interim Use Permit shall be limited to Barbara and Randy Kerkhoff; use by another 
owner or operator shall be subject to obtaining a new Interim Use Permit from Goodhue 
County. 

7. Hours of operation shall be 8am to 12am (midnight). 

Motion carried 7:0  

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS: Roper Irrevocable Trust (Owner) and Bonnie Weber (Applicant)  
Parcel 32.021.0800. 31542 West Florence Trail, Red Wing, MN 55066. SW ¼ of Sect 21 Twp 112 
Range 13 in Florence Township. A2 Zoned District.   

 



Page - 3 - 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
GOODHUE COUNTY, MN 

January 14th, 2019 MEETING MINUTES 
DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 

1. CUP for a Non-Agricultural Use Associated with Agri-tourism (Wedding Event 
Center) 
Request for Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to establish a Wedding Barn Event Center with a 
proposed maximum occupancy of 400 guests.  

 
2. CUP for Commercial Outdoor Recreation Facility 

Request for Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to establish an off-road trail course for ATV’s, UTV’s 
and various “4x4” vehicles to host commercial riding events with up to 400 participants.  

The Applicants (Roper Family Trust) were present to represent the application. 

Bechel presented the staff report and attachments.   

Bechel read an email from Jim and Marcia Sprout regarding concerns for off road vehicles. 
(Attachment 1) 

Bechel read letter from Luann Ludwig regarding concerns with noise and erosion for off road 
vehicles. (Attachment 2) 

Commissioner Gale asked how wide the driveway is as he doesn’t think 14 feet is wide enough 
for passing.  Commissioner Gale stated a concern regarding the driveway if there are 400 
people present.   

William Roper (Roper) stated that the driveway width is sufficient for cars to pass coming and 
going and they haven’t had a problem in previous events.   
8Commissioner Nystuen moved to have two separate public hearings, 
Commissioner Huneke seconded the motion.  

Motion carried 7:0  

Chair Pettit asked to discuss the wedding event center activities first.  

Chair Pettit asked if they ever would have an ATV event the same time as a wedding event. 

Roper stated no, there wouldn’t be parking available for that type of event and the congestion 
would be too much.  Roper also stated the driveway is used as part of the trail during riding 
events. 

Mike Wozniak (Wozniak) stated that he spoke with the individuals who sent in their written 
statement and they were not concerned with the wedding event part of the public hearing but 
were concerned with the outdoor recreational facility.     

Chair Pettit opened the Public Hearing. 

Kate Eiynck stated she was there on behalf of Florence Township and the township has not yet 
approved the Roper’s application at the township level.  She stated the applicants need to have 
a public hearing at the township level which has not happened yet on either application.   
9After Chair Pettit asked three times for comments, it was moved by 
Commissioner Gale and seconded by Commissioner Huneke to close the public 
hearing.  

Motion carried 7:0 

Commissioner Fox requested more clarification from Eiynck on her statement.    



Page - 4 - 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
GOODHUE COUNTY, MN 

January 14th, 2019 MEETING MINUTES 
DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 

Hanni stated that Florence Township did sign off at the Planning Commission Level and then 
again at the town board level.  Hanni stated that the Township failed to hold a public hearing 
as required by their ordinance and they are now reconsidering the requests.  
10Motion by Commissioner Nystuen seconded by Commissioner Fox, for the 
Planning Advisory Commission to:   

• adopt the staff report with amendments into the record;  
• adopt the findings of fact;  
• accept the application, testimony, exhibits, and other evidence presented into the record;  

and recommend that the County Board of Commissioners APPROVE the request from the 
Roper Irrevocable Trust (Owner) and Bonnie Weber (Applicant) to establish a Wedding Barn 
Event Center with a maximum capacity of 400 guests.  Subject to the following conditions: 

1. Activities shall be conducted according to submitted plans, specifications, and narrative 
unless modified by a condition of this IUP.   

2. Hours of operation shall be Friday and Saturday, May through October from 8:00 AM to 
12:00 AM (midnight); 

3. Maximum occupancy shall be limited to 400 guests per event; 

4. On-street event parking shall be prohibited; 

5. Use of the property by wedding event guests for over-night stays shall require issuance of 
a separate CUP/IUP; 

6. Security personnel shall be present at all events in which alcohol is served; 

7. All exterior signage located on the property must follow Goodhue County Zoning 
Ordinance Article 11 section (Sign Regulations). The applicant shall consult the 
appropriate road authority prior to placing signs located within road right-of-way; 

8. Applicant shall obtain Building Permit approvals for use of existing structures from the 
Goodhue County Building Permits Department prior to hosting future events; 

9. Applicants shall work with Goodhue County Environmental Health to develop and 
implement a plan to provide adequate sanitary facilities for guest use; 

10. Compliance with all necessary State and Federal registrations, permits, licensing, and 
regulations; 

11. Compliance with Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance including, but not limited to, 
Article 11, section 30 Non-Agricultural Uses Associated with Agricultural Tourism; 
Goodhue County SSTS Ordinance; and Article 22 A2, General Agriculture District. 

Motion Carried 7:0  

Chair Pettit opened questions and comments for the CUP for outdoor recreational facility. 

Commissioner Nesseth asked Roper to clarify exactly what kind of vehicles they were. 

Roper stated that there are no motorcycles but that there are side by sides, off road vehicles 
with safety harnesses.  Roper stated they have a safety checklist and inspection sheet that 
every vehicle has to go through before they ride on the property.   

Commissioner Nystuen questioned the difference between 100 and 400 participants. 

Roper stated that on a normal weekend they would only have about 100 trucks but when they 



Page - 5 - 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
GOODHUE COUNTY, MN 

January 14th, 2019 MEETING MINUTES 
DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 

have the Minnesota convention, they have up to 200 trucks, plus a rider and that would be 
approximately 400 people.  Roper indicated a max would be 200 trucks.  He also stated that it 
would only be 1 way on the trail if there were that many trucks on the trail.   

Commissioner Nystuen asked what the speeds were. 

Roper responded that it’s about an average of 5 miles per hour because the trails aren’t flat. 

Commissioner Miller asked if all 400 people are camping there and asked if they were 
camping for a week at a time.  He expressed concern over having enough room to 
accommodate that many campsites.   

There was some discussion regarding hours of operation/events.  The reason the hours were 7 
days a week 365 days a year is to accommodate holidays that end on off days, such as a 
Wednesday or a Monday.  This would allow for events to take place over the holiday instead of 
just on weekends.     

Commissioner Miller asked what the ordinance stated about square footage for campsites and 
access to the roads.   

Bechel responded that applicant would have to follow the entire campsite ordinance and stated 
that they will only be permitted to do what the ordinance allows them to do.   

Roper stated that not all riders and drivers stay the night after the event.  He added that many 
people just come for the day.   

Hanni stated that before there can be overnight camping, applicants will have to provide all 
the information to make sure our ordinance is followed.  Applicants would have to follow 
GCZO as well as state licensing for campgrounds.   

Roper stated that typically 30-50 people want to stay the night.  He added that with the 
Minnesota conference it can be up to 70 people that stay the night.   

Further discussion on 7 days a week, 365 days a year.  Roper stated he does not want to be 
operational all year.  He stated they are not running during deer season, winter, or the muddy 
spring.  He concluded their actual times to run would be from May until deer season being 
limited to 5 events per year.   

Discussion regarding putting conditions on the times and dates events can be held.  Huneke 
suggested placing on the number of days events could be held from May to October from 10 
am to 10 pm. 

Chair Pettit asked for further clarification regarding events for large parties, and events for 
small parties.   

Chair Pettit opened the Public Hearing. 

Kate Eiynck stated she was there on behalf of Florence Township and the township has not yet 
approved this application.  She stated the applicants need to have a public hearing at the 
township level which, contrary to earlier indications by the township, has not happened yet on 
either application.   
11After Chair Pettit asked three times for comments, it was moved by 
Commissioner Huneke and seconded by Commissioner Nesseth  to close the public 
hearing.  

Motion carried 7:0 



Page - 6 - 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
GOODHUE COUNTY, MN 

January 14th, 2019 MEETING MINUTES 
DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 

Commissioner Huneke recommended the Commission specify what defines an event and place 
conditions on the same.  Further discussion on length of events and on definition of “event” and 
how many events should be allowed.   

Chair Pettit asked how the events are actually counted. 

Staff responded that in the past we have requested a list of the events prior to the season so 
that the public can see the schedule for the season and also so that staff can confirm the 
amount of events.   

Commissioner Miller asked what if spectators wanted to watch the events.   

Bechel responded that spectators are counted as participants in the event and would be part of 
the maximum capacity count. 

Staff suggested conditions: 

1. Activities shall be conducted according to submitted plans, specifications, and narrative 
unless modified by a condition of this CUP.   

2. Hours of operation shall be year-round, 7-days per week from 10:00 AM to 10:00 PM; 

3. Events shall be limited to five (5) per year with a maximum of 400 participants per 
event; 

4. On-street event parking, loading, and off-loading shall be prohibited; 

5. Accessory use of the property for over-night camping is only allowed during trail riding 
events for the participants, and shall be in accordance with Goodhue County Zoning 
Ordinance Article 16 Section 7, Campground and Recreation Vehicle Site 
Regulations.  Camping shall not allowed until staff has been provided with written 
verification that all of the provisions of Article 16 Section 7 have been addressed and 
satisfied; 

6. Applicants shall provide a trail maintenance and erosion control and prevention plan for 
review and approval by LUM staff prior to hosting future events; 

7. All off-road vehicles used during events shall have functioning mufflers; 

8. A trail map shall be posted on site and provided to all event participants; 

9. Applicants shall work with Goodhue County Environmental Health to develop and 
implement a plan to provide adequate sanitary facilities for guest use; 

10. Compliance with all necessary State and Federal registrations, permits, licensing, and 
regulations; 

11. Compliance with Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance including, but not limited to, 
Article 12, Bluffland Protection; Goodhue County SSTS Ordinance; and Article 22 A2, 
General Agriculture District. 

12Motion by Commissioner Nystuen seconded by Commissioner Huneke, for the 
Planning Advisory Commission to:  

• adopt the staff report into the record;  
• adopt the findings of fact;  
• amend staff suggested conditions #2 and #3 regarding event hours of operation; 
• add conditions #4 and #9; 
• accept the application, testimony, exhibits, and other evidence presented into the record;  



Page - 7 - 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
GOODHUE COUNTY, MN 

January 14th, 2019 MEETING MINUTES 
DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 

and recommend that the County Board of Commissioners APPROVE the request from Roper 
Irrevocable Trust (Owner) and Bonnie Weber (Applicant) to establish an off-road trail course for 
ATV’s, UTV’s and various “4x4” vehicles to host commercial riding events with up to 400 
participants subject to the following conditions 
 

1. Activities shall be conducted according to submitted plans, specifications, and narrative 
unless modified by a condition of this IUP.   

2. Events may be held between May-October for a maximum of 28 days or a total of 7 
events; 

3. No event trail riding shall be allowed between 10pm – 10am; 

4. Trail riding events shall not coincide with Wedding events held on this parcel; 

5. Maximum capacity shall be 400 participants per event; 

6. On-street event parking, loading, and off-loading shall be prohibited; 

7. Accessory use of the property for over-night camping is only allowed during trail riding 
events for the participants, and shall be in accordance with Goodhue County Zoning 
Ordinance Article 16 Section 7, Campground and Recreation Vehicle Site 
Regulations.  Camping shall not allowed until staff has been provided with written 
verification that all of the provisions of Article 16 Section 7 have been addressed and 
satisfied; 

8. Applicants shall provide a trail maintenance and erosion control and prevention plan for 
review and approval by LUM staff prior to hosting future events; 

9. Upon request by LUM staff, Applicants shall provide a summary of hosted events 
including dates and number of participants; 

10. All off-road vehicles used during events shall have functioning mufflers; 

11. A trail map shall be posted on site and provided to all event participants; 

12. Applicants shall work with Goodhue County Environmental Health to develop and 
implement a plan to provide adequate sanitary facilities for guest use; 

13. Compliance with all necessary State and Federal registrations, permits, licensing, and 
regulations; 

14. Compliance with Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance including, but not limited to, 
Article 12, Bluffland Protection; Goodhue County SSTS Ordinance; and Article 22 A2, 
General Agriculture District. 

  
Motion Carried 7:0  

6. Other discussion 
 
Welcome Commissioner Miller   
 
13Adjourn: Moved by Commissioner Fox, second by Commissioner Huneke, to 
adjourn the Planning Advisory Commission meeting at 8:11 PM.  
Motion carried 7:0 

Respectfully Submitted,  



Page - 8 - 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
GOODHUE COUNTY, MN 

January 14th, 2019 MEETING MINUTES 
DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 

Abby Breyfogle; Recording Secretary  

                                                 
1 APPROVE the PAC meeting agenda.  

Motion carried 5:0. 
2 APPROVE the previous month’s meeting minutes.  

Motion carried 5:0. 
3  MOTION TO APPOINT SARAH PETTIT CHAIR.  

Motion carried 5:0. 
4 TO APPOINT TOM GALE VICE CHAIR.  

Motion carried 5:0. 
5 Motion to appoint Darwin Fox BOA representative.  

Motion carried 6:0. 
6 Motion to close the Public Hearing.  

Motion carried 7:0 
7 Recommend the County Board of Commissioners Approve the request from Randal and Barbara Kerhoff to 
amend IUP Z16-0072 to modify Wedding barn Event Center operational hours to 8am to midnight. 

Motion carried 7:0 
8 Motion to have 2 separate Public Hearings.  

Motion carried 7:0 
9 Motion to close the Public Hearing.  

Motion carried 7:0 
10 Recommend the County Board of Commissioners Approve the request the request from the Roper Irrevocable 
Trust (Owner) and Bonnie Weber (Applicant) to establish a Wedding Barn Event Center with a maximum capacity 
of 400 guests.  

Motion carried 7:0 
11 Motion to close the Public Hearing.  

Motion carried 7:0 
12 Recommend the County Board of Commissioners Approve the request the request from Roper Irrevocable Trust 
(Owner) and Bonnie Weber (Applicant) to establish an off-road trail course for ATV’s, UTV’s and various “4x4” 
vehicles to host commercial riding events with up to 400 participants 

Motion carried 7:0 
13 ADJOURN the Planning Commission meeting.  

Motion carried 7:0 



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



TO:  Goodhue County Planning Advisory Commission    January 12, 2019 

CC: Jason Majerus, Commissioner 

RE: CUP Application by The Roper Family Trust 

My name is Louanne Brooks Ludwig. I am unable to personally attend the Public Hearing on January 14, 
2019 concerning the CUP Request by the Roper Family Trust as I have a previous out of town 
commitment. Therefore, I am submitting these written comments for your consideration.  

I am the trustee of the James and Louanne Brooks Trust property, which lies immediately to the east of 
the Roper property. My residence is on that adjoining property, where I have lived since 1991. My home 
is closer to the Ropers’ trail system than any other dwelling besides their own. Ropers did not speak to 
me about their plans or ask me to sign a petition, as evidently they did with some neighbors. The two 
separate neighbors I spoke to who signed the petition said they signed for the barn wedding venue: 
when I asked them specifically about the off-road vehicle use, both said they don’t remember any 
discussion from Ropers about that. 

I was not aware until the January 2, 2019 notice from Goodhue County of the proposal represented by 
their CUP Application. I was also unaware it had come before Florence Township until I read the report 
dated January 4, 2019 to the Planning Advisory Commission on the Goodhue County website. 

I have no concerns regarding the Wedding Event portion of the application, however I have very grave 
concern over the Commercial Outdoor Recreation portion of the application. I can hear when the trails 
are in use from my home, which I find objectionable and disruptive to the otherwise quiet, tranquil 
nature of life at the end of a gravel road, a life style choice I made when I moved to Goodhue County. A 
snowmobile trail used to cross my farm, but the noise and lights were so disruptive, I no longer permit 
the trail. The noise from off-road vehicles at Roper’s is especially disquieting because it reminders me of 
the land abuse taking place. 

The 205 acre farm on which I reside has a 50 year history of adopting best management practices to 
minimize adverse impacts from farming and logging. It began under the stewardship of Robert Binger in 
the early 1970’s, when he adopted strip farming and crop rotation before it was common practice. My 
late husband, James Brooks, and I purchased the farm from Binger in 1991. We were both University 
educated in forestry and wildlife management, and we worked in the field of Natural Resource 
Management.  By way of education and practice, I hold that non-renewable resources, such as water 
and soil, should be preserved and protected while utilizing renewable resources, such as crops and 
timber. We continued the farming practices started by Binger, and implemented new stewardship 
practices to further reduce soil erosion and runoff from our bluff-top agricultural fields and to protect 
the wooded bluff sides below:  

• Several erosion control dikes were installed, seeded and have been maintained 
• Grass waterways in tilled fields have been established and maintained 
• Minimum tillage practices are used 
• Permanent grass buffers along field edges established and cut for hay 
• Installation and maintenance of native prairie installed on the most erodible crop land 

ATTACHMENT 2



• Timber harvesting restricted from steep terrain; selective, sustainable timbering done on frozen 
ground only, with no permanent trails built (temporary skid trails only); trees replanted in 
harvest areas 

As you may suspect, given our dedication to sustainable land use practices, I find the adverse impacts 
created by off-road trucks on the bluff side of the Roper property adjacent to mine extremely 
disheartening.  

You need to understand that the vehicles using these trails are modified pickup truck/jeep sized 
vehicles, outfitted with oversized, lugged tires wide enough to extend beyond the body of the vehicle. 
They are designed to climb steep, rough terrain, and inevitably do damage to the land, which leads to 
increasing erosion. Development for this sort of “Outdoor Recreation” needs far more scrutiny than 
mountain biking, cross-country skiing, birdwatching, zip-lining, horseback riding, etc. because of its 
impact on soil and water. The noise and physical impacts to the landscape from off-road trucks 
(“wheeling”) more resembles impacts from road-building and mining than “outdoor recreation.” I 
suggest that the County’s current guidelines and requirements for permitting commercial outdoor 
recreation is inadequate to address this sort of usage. 

One of the trails is right at my property line. I have attached photos of the trails adjacent to my 
property. The trails are two to six feet below the forest floor and are roughly 12 feet wide as a result of 
erosion from off-road use over the last twenty years. If you assume: 

• 2 feet of erosion as an average 
• Trails 12 feet wide 
• Six miles of trails 
• 10 days of use/year for 20 years = 200 use days  

Calculation of soil lost from the site: 2’ erosion x 12’ width of trail x (6 miles x 5280 ft/mile) = 760,320 
cubic feet (nearly 85,000 cubic yards) of soil lost from the hill side. Most dump trucks hold 10-12 cubic 
yards of soil when full, so something like 8,000 truckloads of soil have been displaced from the bluff 
sides at Ropers’. The CUP application proposes increasing the number of people/vehicles using the site 
on a per day basis, and increasing the number of days/year the site is in use. 

Consequently, the application proposal, if approved, would increase noise from the site, accelerate soil 
erosion and further destabilize the hill side. What people choose to do with their property for their 
personal use is one thing; for a governmental entity, be it Florence Township or Goodhue County, to 
sanction this commercially is quite another. Therefore, I am asking the county to deny the CUP for 
commercialization of this activity.  

Short of immediately denying the application, I request Goodhue County require that: 

1. The County review the requirements under which this proposal was submitted and determine if 
the guidelines in place are sufficient for the degree of impact such activity will have to the 
environment. 

2. No approval be given until the Planning Advisory Commission and the County Board of 
Commissioners have personally visited the site and inspected ALL the trails there during a time 
of year without snow cover. 

ATTACHMENT 2



3. BEFORE any approval can be given, a trail maintenance and erosion control plan be presented to 
and approved by the Planning Advisory Committee (as referenced to in point 6 of the Staff 
Recommendations). 

4. No trails be allowed within 300 yards of Ropers’ property boundaries. 

 

ATTACHMENT 2



 
 

 

“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 1 of 4 

Environmental Health | Land Surveying | GIS 
Telephone:  651.385.3223 

Fax:  651.385.3098 

Lisa M. Hanni, L.S. Director 
Building | Planning | Zoning  
Telephone: 651.385.3104 
Fax: 651.385.3106 

Goodhue County Land Use Management 
Goodhue County Government Center | 509 West Fifth Street | Red Wing, Minnesota 55066 

 County Surveyor / Recorder 

To:  Planning Advisory Commission 
From: Land Use Management  
Meeting Date: February 11, 2019 
Report date: February 1, 2019 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: CUP Request to Elevate a Dwelling within a Floodplain by Means 
Other than Fill 
Request submitted by Curt Caverly (Buyer) and John Enblom (Owner) to elevate a proposed 
dwelling above the base flood elevation of a Floodplain area by means of a “tuck under” garage 
foundation. Parcel 43.230.0060. TBD Lake View Ave Red Wing, MN 55066. Lot 6, Block 1 of 
Wacouta Point Plat located in Sect 31 Twp 113, Range 13 in Wacouta Township. R1 Zoned District.  
 
Application Information: 
Applicant: Curt Caverly (Buyer) and John Enblom (Owner) 
Address of zoning request: TBD Lake View Ave Red Wing, MN 55066 
Parcel(s): 43.230.0060 
Abbreviated Legal Description: Lot 6, Block 1 of Wacouta Point Plat located in Sect 31 Twp 113, 
Range 13 in Wacouta Township 
Township Information: Stanton Township endorsed acknowledgment of the Applicant’s request. 
Zoning District: R1 (Suburban Residence District) 
 
Attachments and links: 
Application and submitted project summary (excerpt of submitted materials; full submittal available 
from  LUM Department upon request) 
Site Map(s) 
Article 4, Section 4 CUP Floodplain review addendum 
Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance (GCZO): 
http://www.co.goodhue.mn.us/DocumentCenter/View/2428  
 
Summary:  
The applicant (Curt Caverly) has entered an agreement to purchase the subject parcel from the 
current owner (John Enblom) with the intent of constructing a new 4-bedroom dwelling on the site. 
The proposed 2,942 square foot 2-story waterfront home would be located within shoreland and 
Special Flood Hazard Area (floodplain) of the Mississippi River (Lake Pepin).  

FEMA rules divide the floodplain areas of lakes and rivers into 2 distinct zones referred to as the 
“floodway” (areas in the path of flowing water during flood events) and the “flood-fringe” (areas 
inundated with floodwater during flood events). The GCZO does not permit new dwellings within 
floodway areas. Dwellings can be constructed within a flood-fringe provided the habitable areas are 
elevated to the Regulatory Flood Protection Elevation (RFPE). The RFPE is the Base Flood Elevation 
plus one foot of “free-board.”  

The primary method for elevating to the RFPE is to construct the building on fill. Per GCZO, 
alternative methods for elevating a structures lowest floor to the RFPE such as by stilts, pilings, 
parallel walls, crawl spaces, or tuck-under garages shall require the approval of a CUP. The applicant 
is proposing to elevate the proposed home to the RFPE by use of tuck-under garage foundation.  

There are 5 existing homes situated in the Wacouta Point floodplain. Though currently vacant, the 
subject property has historically been occupied by a dwelling.  

http://www.co.goodhue.mn.us/DocumentCenter/View/2428


“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 2 of 4 

Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance: Article 4 Conditional/Interim Uses 
No CUP/IUP shall be recommended by the County Planning Commission unless said Commission specifies 
facts in their findings for each case which establish the proposed CUP/IUP will not be injurious to the use and 
enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, will not 
substantially diminish and impair property values within the immediate vicinity, will not impede the normal 
and orderly development and improvement of surrounding vacant property for uses predominant to the 
area, that adequate measures have been, or will be, taken to provide utilities, access roads, drainage and 
other necessary facilities, to provide sufficient off-street parking and loading space, to control offensive odor, 
fumes, dust, noise and vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance, and to control lighted signs 
and other lights in such a manner that no disturbance to neighboring properties will result. 
 

Project Summary: 
Property/Building Information: 
 The subject property consists of a single 100 foot by 150 feet parcel (15,000 square feet). The 

property is zoned R1 (Suburban Residence District) and is located within the Wacouta Point Plat 
(1921). Per GCZO Article 24 the minimum lot size for an R1 parcel is 20,000 square feet. The lot 
existed prior to current minimum lot area requirements. The parcel does meet current 
requirements for minimum lot depth (125 feet) and width (100 feet). 

 Parcel access is located off of Lakeview Avenue approximately a quarter-mile west of the parcel.  
Emergency vehicle access to the site is limited during flood events as there is no dryland access 
route to the dwellings on Wacouta Point. Flooding along the Mississippi River is generally not a 
“flash flood” and residents have time to evacuate the area as necessary. 

 The property is bordered by R1 zoning districts on all sides. Adjacent land uses include 
undeveloped woodlands and the Mississippi River to the east and west; medium-density 
residential to the north and south (Wacouta Beach Subdivision). 

 The applicant intends to construct a 4-bedroom, 2942 square foot stick-built 2-story home atop a 
9-foot tall tuck-under garage concrete poured-wall foundation.  

The “tuck under” garage area would be used for parking and cold storage only.  

Floodplain: 
 The Base Flood Elevation (BFE) at the site has been determined to be 682 feet mean sea level. 

The RFPE is therefore 683 feet mean sea level. The proposed building location is not within the 
FEMA identified floodway portion of the floodplain.  

 Per GCZO Article 32, Section 5 Alternative elevation methods other than the use of fill may be 
utilized to elevate a structure's lowest floor above the RFPE. These alternative methods may 
include the use of stilts, pilings, parallel walls, etc., or above grade enclosed areas such as crawl 
spaces or tuck under garages. The base or floor of an enclosed area shall be considered above 
grade and not a structure's basement or lowest floor if:  

1. If the enclosed area is above grade on at least one side of the structure.  

2. Is designed to internally flood and is constructed with flood-resistant materials.  

3. Is used solely for parking of vehicles, building access or storage.  

The above noted alternative elevation methods are subject to the following additional 
standards:  

a. Design and Certification. The structure's design and as-built condition must be certified by 
a registered professional engineer or architect as being in compliance with the general design 
standards of the State Building Code and, specifically, that all electrical, heating, ventilation, 
plumbing and air conditioning equipment and other service facilities must be at or above the 
RFPE or be designed to prevent flood water from entering or accumulating within these 
components during times of flooding.  

b. Specific Standards for Above Grade, Enclosed Areas. Above grade fully enclosed areas such 
as crawl spaces or tuck under garages must be designed to internally flood and the design 
plans must stipulate:  



“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 3 of 4 

i. A minimum area of “automatic” openings in the walls where internal flooding is to be 
used as a flood-proofing technique. There shall be a minimum of two openings on at least 
two sides of the structure and the bottom of all openings shall be no higher than one (1) foot 
above grade. The automatic openings shall have a minimum net area of not less than one 
square inch for every square foot of enclosed area subject to flooding unless a registered 
professional engineer or architect certifies that a smaller net area would suffice. The 
automatic openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, vales or other coverings or 
devices provided that they permit the automatic entry and exit of flood waters without any 
form of human intervention. 

ii. That the enclosed area will be designed of flood-resistant materials in accordance with 
the FP-3 or FP-4 classifications in the State Building Code and shall be used solely for 
building access, parking of vehicles, or storage 

 The applicant is proposing to elevate the habitable floors, as well as all machinery and equipment 
servicing the building to 687 feet, mean sea level. The existing grade around the structure ranges 
from 675.4-676.6 feet mean sea level. A preliminary Elevation Certificate has been prepared by 
Johnson-Schofield surveying.  

 The applicant has submitted engineered plans for meeting flood proofing requirements which 
have been prepared by Larson Engineering Inc. The plans call for a series of nine 16”x8” 
automatic openings (Flood Flaps) spaced 3 inches above grade around the perimeter of the 
structure.  

Goodhue County Building Permits D apartment staff have conducted a preliminary review of the 
documents and noted they are signed by a licensed engineer and appear to meet applicable 
engineering standards. A building permit will need to be reviewed and approved by the 
Department prior to construction of the facility.  

Shoreland: 
 The lot is considered a non-conforming lot of record as it does not contain the minimum 20,000 

square feet lot area required for riparian lots on unsewered General Development lakes. Staff 
consulted with Minnesota DNR Area Hydrologist Bill Huber regarding the potential the proposal 
to reestablish a dwelling on the site. Mr. Huber conveyed that if the lot was created compliant 
with official controls in effect at the time, and sewage treatment and setback requirements of the 
shoreland controls are met, the state shoreland rules would allow the substandard lot to be 
developed. 

 The entire property is located within the shoreland overlay of the Mississippi River. Ordinarily, 
structures are required to bet setback 75 feet from Ordinary High Water Level (OHWL). Per 
GCZO, where principal structures exist on adjoining lots on both sides of a proposed building 
site, structure setbacks may be altered without a variance to conform to the adjoining setbacks 
from the OHWL provided the proposed building site is not located in a shore impact zone.   

 The shore impact zone is defined as 50% of the minimum required setback. Given the location of 
the existing structures to the north and south of the parcel, no portion of the proposed structure 
may be located closer than 37.5 feet of the OHWL of the Mississippi River.  

 The structure will be required to adhere to impervious surface standards (maximum 25%), R1 
building coverage provisions (maximum coverage 20%), and shoreland height requirements 
(maximum height 25 feet.  

Septic/Well: 
 The site will require a new sub-surface sewage treatment system (SSTS) be in installed in 

addition to a well. The applicant has had a local septic designer prepare a proposed “box-mound” 
septic system to be located in the southwest corner of the parcel. The bottom of the SSTS will 
need to be elevated above the 10-year flood elevation as required by the Goodhue County SSTS 
ordinance. 

 Ben Hoyt, Goodhue County Environmental Sanitarian, offered the following comments regarding 
the applicants’ submitted SSTS plans: 

“I performed a partial review of the design and will perform a full review once a permit is 



“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 4 of 4 

applied for. The septic system will need to a specialized system because the property is in the 
Mississippi floodplain. The designer has proposed a box mound style system. Box mounds have 
been successful at adequately treating sewage for properties with space requirements. The 
preliminary design is acceptable with a few adjustments and clarifications. Environmental 
Health will require a complete and satisfactory septic permit prior to approving any building 
permit for the parcel in question.” 

Township Information: 
 Wacouta Township reviewed the Applicant’s proposal and has approved a permit for the 

structure subject to county zoning approvals. The township also endorsed acknowledgment of the 
applicant’s CUP request.  
 

Draft Findings of Fact: 
The following staff findings shall be amended to reflect concerns conveyed during the PAC meeting 
and public hearing. 
 

1. The proposed dwelling does not appear injurious to the use and enjoyment of properties in the 
immediate vicinity for uses already permitted, nor would it substantially diminish and impair 
property values in the immediate vicinity. The structure would be similar to those already 
existing in the vicinity of Wacouta Point and would be constructed in conformance with current 
building code and zoning ordinance standards.  

2. The establishment of the proposed dwelling is not anticipated to impede the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of surrounding vacant property for uses predominant to the area. 
The structure is proposed to meet all development standards of the Goodhue County Zoning 
Ordinance. The use as proposed appears compatible with existing adjacent land uses.  

3. A review of the applicants submitted project summary indicates adequate utilities, access roads, 
drainage, and other necessary facilities are available or will be installed to accommodate the 
proposed use.  

4. The submitted plans identify means to provide sufficient off-street parking and loading space to 
serve the proposed use and meet the Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance’s parking requirements.  

5. No offensive odor, fumes, dust, noise, light, or vibration that would constitute a nuisance are 
anticipated from the proposal.  

Staff recommendation is based on the review of the submitted application and project area prior to 
the public hearing. 
 

Staff Recommendation: 
LUM Staff recommends the Planning Advisory Commission  

• adopt the staff report into the record;  
• adopt the findings of fact;  
• accept the application, testimony, exhibits, and other evidence presented into the record; and 

 
Recommend that the County Board of Commissioners APPROVE the request submitted by Curt 
Caverly (Buyer) and John Enblom (Owner) to elevate a proposed dwelling above the Base Flood 
Elevation of a Floodplain area by means of a “tuck under” garage foundation. 
Subject to the following conditions: 

1. Activities shall be conducted according to submitted plans, specifications, and narrative 
unless modified by a condition of this CUP;  

2. Applicant shall provide an as-built Elevation Certificate verifying the first-floor elevation and  
all electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing and air conditioning equipment and other service 
facilities meet or exceed the regulatory flood protection elevation (RFPE) of 682.0 feet mean 
sea level; 

3. Compliance with Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance including, but not limited to, Article 24 
(Suburban Residence District), Article 31 (Shoreland Regulations), and Article 32 (Floodplain 
District). 



Article 4, Section 4 CUP Floodplain review 
 

Subd. 4. CUP/IUP applications for projects in a floodplain or shoreland area, shall 
consider all relevant factors specified in other sections of this Ordinance, and: 
 

A. The danger to life and property due to increased flood height or velocities caused by 
encroachments. 

The structure will not be located within the Floodway of the Mississippi River. No 
fill is being proposed and the structure is designed to internally flood to the Base 
Flood Elevation so an increase in the flood stage will not occur.  

B. The danger that materials may be swept onto other lands or downstream to the injury of 
others or they may block bridges, culverts or other hydraulic structures.  

It is not anticipated that structure will create downstream hazards due to 
materials blocking bridges, culverts, or other hydraulic structures. 

C. The proposed water supply and sanitation systems and the ability of these systems to prevent 
disease, contamination, and unsanitary conditions.  

The proposed dwelling will be serviced by a Type-2 box-mound SSTS that will be 
installed and operated in compliance with MPCA rules for SSTS located in 
Floodplains. 

D. The susceptibility of the proposed facility and its contents to flood damage and the effect of 
such damage on the individual owner. 

The dwelling will be required to meet all zoning and building code requirements 
for buildings located within a floodplain including flood-proofing, using flood-
resistant materials, and elevating all living spaces and mechanical 
components/services above the RFPE. 

E. The importance of the services provided by the proposed facility to the County. 

The dwelling is not proposed to provide any services to the County. 

F. The requirements of the facility for a waterfront location. 

The structure will be required to adhere to all provisions of the Article 31 
Shoreland Regulations including impervious surface limits, OHWL setbacks, and 
vegetation management.  

G. The availability of alternative locations not subject to flooding for the proposed use. 

The entirety of the subject parcel is located within the floodplain of the Mississippi 
River and was platted as such.  

H. The compatibility of the proposed use with existing development and development 
anticipated in the foreseeable future. 

The Wacouta Point plat was originally developed for low-density residential along 
the waterfront. There are 5 other residences existing in the vicinity of the 
proposed structure. Historically, a residence was located on the subject parcel.   

 

 



I. The relationship of the proposed use to the Comprehensive Plan and Floodplain Management 
Program for the area.  

The Goodhue County Comprehensive Plan encourages the maintenance and 
administration of the floodplain regulations consistent with Minnesota 
Administrative Rules 6120.5400 (Floodplain Management Rules) which are the 
basis for the County’s current Floodplain Regulations. 

J. The safety of access to the property in times of flood for ordinary and emergency vehicles. 

Emergency vehicle access to the site is limited during flood events as there is no 
dryland access route to the dwellings on Wacouta Point. Flooding along the 
Mississippi River is generally not a “flash flood” and residents have time to 
evacuate the area as necessary.  

K. The expected heights, velocity, duration, rate of rise, and sediment transport of the flood 
waters expected at the site. 

The structure will not be located within the Floodway of the Mississippi River. No 
fill is being proposed and the structure is designed to internally flood to the Base 
Flood Elevation so an increase in the flood stage will not occur.  

L. Such other factors which are relevant to the purposes of this Ordinance. 





























54

M
R 

70
80

7080.2270 Floodplain Areas. 
Subpart 1. General. ISTS must be designed under this part if the 

system is proposed to be located in a fl oodplain. A system located in a 
fl oodplain must meet or exceed the following requirements: 

A. employ fl ow values in parts 7080.1850 to 7080.1885; 
B. meet or exceed applicable technical requirements of parts 

7080.1900 to 7080.2030, 7080.2050, and 7080.2100, except as 
modifi ed in this part; 

C. provide fl ow measurement if a pump is to be employed; 
D. meet or exceed the requirements of parts 7080.2210 to 

7080.2230; 
E. meet or exceed requirements of part 7080.2150, subparts 2 and 

3, except as modifi ed in this subpart; and 
F. meet the requirements of subparts 2 to 11. 
Subp. 2. State and local requirements. The allowed use of 

systems in fl oodplains must be according to state and local fl oodplain 
requirements. 

Subp. 3. Location of system. An ISTS must not be located in a 
fl oodway and, whenever possible, placement within any part of the 
fl oodplain should be avoided. If no alternative exists, a system is 
allowed to be placed within the fl ood fringe if the requirements in 
subparts 4 to 11 are met. 

Subp. 4. Openings. There must be no inspection pipe or other 
installed opening from the distribution media to the soil surface. 

Subp. 5. Highest ground. An ISTS must be located on the highest 
feasible area of the lot and must have location preference over all other 
improvements except the water supply well. If the ten-year fl ood data 
are available, the bottom of the distribution media must be at least as 
high as the elevation of the ten-year fl ood. 

Subp. 6. Pump. If a pump is used to distribute effl  uent to the soil 
treatment and dispersal system, provisions shall be made to prevent 
the pump from operating when inundated with fl oodwaters. 

Subp. 7. Raising elevation. When it is necessary to raise the 
elevation of the soil treatment system to meet the vertical separation 
distance requirements, a mound system as specifi ed in part 7080.2220 
is allowed to be used with the following additional requirements: 

A. the elevation of the bottom of the mound bed absorption 
area must be at least one-half foot above the ten-year fl ood 
elevation if ten-year fl ood data are available; 

B. inspection pipes must not be installed unless the top of the 
mound is above the 100-year fl ood elevation; and 

7080.2270 FLOODPLAIN AREAS



55

M
R 7080

C. the placement of clean sand and other fi ll must be done 
according to any community-adopted fl oodplain management 
ordinance. 

Subp. 8. Inundation of top. When the top of a sewage tank is 
inundated, the dwelling must cease discharging sewage into it. 

Subp. 9. Backfl ow. Backfl ow prevention of liquid into the building 
when the system is inundated must be provided. If a holding tank 
is used, the system must be designed to permit rapid diversion of 
sewage into the holding tank when the system is inundated. 

Subp. 10. Holding tank. If a holding tank is used to serve a 
dwelling, the holding tank’s liquid capacity must equal 100 gallons 
times the number of bedrooms times the number of days between the 
ten-year stage on the rising limb of the 100-year fl ood hydro-graph 
and the ten-year stage on the falling limb of the hydrograph, or 1,000 
gallons, whichever is greater. The holding tank must be accessible for 
removal of tank contents under fl ooded conditions. 

Subp. 11. Water level above top. Whenever the water level has 
risen above the top of a sewage tank, the tank must be pumped to 
remove all solids and liquids after the fl ood has receded and before 
use of the system is resumed. 

7080.2280 Privies. 
A. To qualify as a privy, the system must: 

(1) meet or exceed the requirements of part 7080.2150, 
subpart 2; 

(2) have soil beneath the bottom of the pit that meets or 
exceeds the requirements of part 7080.2150, subpart 3, 
item C, employ a watertight tank meeting applicable 
requirements of parts 7080.1900 to 7080.2030, or employ a 
toilet treatment device; and 

(3) meet the requirements of items B to E. 
B. Pits or vaults must have suffi cient capacity for the dwelling 

they serve, but must have at least 25 cubic feet of capacity. 
C. The sides of the pit must be curbed to prevent cave-in. 
D. The privy must be easily maintained and insect proof. The 

door and seat must be self-closing. All exterior openings, 
including vent openings, shall be screened. 

E. Privies must be adequately vented. 

7080.2280 PRIVIES 









 
 

 

“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 1 of 2 

Environmental Health | Land Surveying | GIS 
Telephone:  651.385.3223 

Fax:  651.385.3098 

Lisa M. Hanni, L.S. Director 
Building | Planning | Zoning  
Telephone: 651.385.3104 
Fax: 651.385.3106 

Goodhue County Land Use Management 
Goodhue County Government Center | 509 West Fifth Street | Red Wing, Minnesota 55066 

 County Surveyor / Recorder 

To:  Planning Advisory Commission 
From: Land Use Management  
Meeting Date: February 11, 2019 
Report date: February 1, 2019 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: “Wildwood Gardens” Preliminary and Final Plat Review   
Request submitted by Howard Stenerson (Owner) for Preliminary and Final Plat review of the 
proposed “Wildwood Gardens” Plat comprising approximately 56.45 acres. Parcels 43.135.0200 and 
43.136.0380. TBD Wildwood Lane Red Wing, MN 55066. Part of the SE ¼ of Sect 35 and the SW ¼, 
SW ¼ of Sect 36 in Twp 113, Range 14 in Wacouta Township. A2 Zoned District. 
 
Application Information: 
Applicant: Howard Stenerson  
Address of zoning request: TBD Wildwood Lane Red Wing, MN 55066 
Parcel(s): 43.136.0380 
Abbreviated Legal Description: Part of the SE ¼ of Sect 35 and the SW ¼, SW ¼ of Sect 36 in Twp 
113, Range 14 in Wacouta Township 
Zoning District: A2 (General Agriculture District) 
 
Attachments and links: 
Application and submitted maps 
Site Map(s) 
Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance (GCZO): 
http://www.co.goodhue.mn.us/DocumentCenter/View/2428  
 
Summary:  
The applicant (Howard Stenerson) has prepared a preliminary and final plat of “Wildwood Gardens” 
for consideration. Due to inconsistency in the description of the road easements for Wildwood Lane 
compared with the physical location of the road, there are 2 potential options for processing this plat 
request.  

1) Wacouta Township could vacate the underlying easements within the proposed plat and have the 
new easements dedicated on the plat.  The new easements would better follow the alignment of the 
existing centerline being used.  Wacouta Township would need to hold a public hearing to vacate the 
existing easements. The applicant would continue with the public review process for the proposed 
plat. 

2) Do not dedicate easements on the plat and leave the old ones as is, even though they don’t 
accurately reflect the actual use. If the township is not going to vacate and rededicate the road 
easements as part of this process, the Applicant would be able to plat the property as an 
Administrative Plat which would not require public hearings.   

If Wacouta Township desires to match the road with the description (within this plat), now would be 
the easiest time to do it as part of this platting process. Staff understands that Wacouta Township is 
holding a Town Meeting on February 11th, 2019 to determine their course of action.  

 

 

 

http://www.co.goodhue.mn.us/DocumentCenter/View/2428


“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 2 of 2 

 

Staff Recommendation: 
LUM Staff recommends the Planning Advisory Commission  

• adopt the staff report into the record;  
• accept the application, testimony, exhibits, and other evidence presented into the record; and 

 
Recommend that the County Board of Commissioners APPROVE the request submitted by Howard 
Stenerson (Owner) for Preliminary and Final Plat approval of the proposed “Wildwood Gardens” Plat 
comprising approximately 56.45 acres. 













 
 

 

“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 1 of 4 

Environmental Health | Land Surveying | GIS 
Telephone:  651.385.3223 

Fax:  651.385.3098 

Lisa M. Hanni, L.S. Director 
Building | Planning | Zoning  
Telephone: 651.385.3104 
Fax: 651.385.3106 

Goodhue County Land Use Management 
Goodhue County Government Center | 509 West Fifth Street | Red Wing, Minnesota 55066 

 County Surveyor / Recorder 

To:  Planning Commission 
From: Land Use Management  
Meeting Date: February 11, 2019 
Report date:  February 1, 2019 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: Request for CUP for a Utility-Scale Solar Energy System (SES) 
Request for a CUP submitted by MN 121819 LLC (applicant) and Jonathan and Lora Luhman 
(owners) for a Utility-Scale Photovoltaic Ground 1 Megawatt Solar Energy System (SES) occupying 
approximately 6.65 acres. Parcel 26.032.0400. TBD 390th Ave, Goodhue, MN 55027. Part of the NW 
¼ of Sect 32 Twp 111 Range 14 in Belvidere Township. A1 Zoned District. 
 
Application Information: 
Applicant: MN 121819 LLC (applicant) and Jonathan and Lora Luhman (owners) 
Address of zoning request: TBD 390th Ave, Goodhue, MN 55027 
Parcel(s): 26.032.0400 
Abbreviated Legal: Part of the NW ¼ of Sect 32 Twp 111 Range 14 in Belvidere Township 
Township Information: Belvidere Township completed a township zoning application approving the 
applicant’s request on 1/8/19.   
Zoning District: A1 (Agriculture District) 
 
Attachments and links: 
Application and submitted project summary (excerpt of submitted materials; full submittal available 
from  LUM Department upon request) 
Site Map(s) 
Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance (GCZO): 
http://www.co.goodhue.mn.us/DocumentCenter/View/2428  
 
Background:  
The applicant has submitted a CUP request to construct and operate a one (1) Megawatt (MW) 
photovoltaic (PV) utility-scale solar garden on approximately 6.65 acres of leased land located in 
Belvidere Township that is currently owned by Jonathan and Lora Luhman. The project would be 
developed in conjunction with the State of Minnesota Solar Garden program and Xcel Energy's Solar 
Rewards Community Program. The program allows developers to design, permit, own, and operate 
solar energy systems and sell the generated power directly to consumers. Upon completion, the Solar 
Garden would connect to Xcel Energy’s distribution grid and generate up to 1 MW of energy annually 
over the next 25 years.   

Per Goodhue County regulations, Solar Energy Systems (SES) that are the primary use of the land 
and are designed to primarily provide energy to off-site users or export to the wholesale market may 
be conditionally permitted as a “Utility-Scale SES” within the County’s A1 zoned districts.    

Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance: Article 4 Conditional/Interim Uses 
No CUP/IUP shall be recommended by the County Planning Commission unless said Commission specifies 
facts in their findings for each case which establish the proposed CUP/IUP will not be injurious to the use and 
enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, will not 
substantially diminish and impair property values within the immediate vicinity, will not impede the normal 
and orderly development and improvement of surrounding vacant property for uses predominant to the 
area, that adequate measures have been, or will be, taken to provide utilities, access roads, drainage and 
other necessary facilities, to provide sufficient off-street parking and loading space, to control offensive odor, 
fumes, dust, noise and vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance, and to control lighted signs 

http://www.co.goodhue.mn.us/DocumentCenter/View/2428


“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 2 of 4 

and other lights in such a manner that no disturbance to neighboring properties will result. 
 
Project Summary:  
Property Information: 
 The approximately 6.65-acre site to be leased by the applicant is currently used for row-crop 

agriculture (corn and soybeans) by the owner. 

The 159-acre Luhman property includes a dwelling, a registered feedlot, tilled cropland, and 
pasture areas. 

Adjacent land uses include agriculture and low-density residential. 

The nearest residence is located approximately 1500 feet northwest of the proposed facility 
(Marlyn Hinrichs). The city of Bellechester is located approximately one half-mile southeast of 
the project area.  

 The property is bordered on all sides by A1 (Agriculture Protection) Zoned Districts. 

Solar Array: 
 The solar array is proposed to include 4046 solar modules (panels) installed in 9 rows spaced 10-

15 feet apart.   

Single-axis tracker racks tilted at 30 degrees will hold up solar panels, reaching a typical height of 
10 feet above grade.  

The racking will be installed with piles that are anchored into the ground to an appropriate depth 
based on detailed structural and geotechnical analysis. 

The solar array will interconnect to the power grid via a pad-mounted transformer at the north 
edge of the project area, facilitating connection to an existing Xcel Energy circuit. 

 A new driveway/access road will be constructed from 390th ST to access the leased project area. 

A recorded ingress/egress easement is not required for the property given the site is to be leased 
and all land to be crossed to access the site will remain under common ownership. 

A separate fire number will be required for the site. 

 The 12-foot wide access drive would be composed of crushed aggregate to facilitate emergency 
vehicle access in inclement weather conditions. Emergency vehicle access appears adequate to 
service the facility. 

 Once constructed, traffic to the site would be limited to four visits per year (quarterly) by two 
maintenance personnel to perform routine maintenance, in addition to any unplanned 
maintenance.  During the first few years of operation two vegetation maintenance personnel will 
visit the site a handful of times per year and then an anticipated four times per year for the 
duration of the project.  

 The solar garden is sited to comply with all GCZO setback requirements for Solar Energy 
Systems. 

Landscaping/Drainage: 
 The site slopes generally from north to south with stormwater runoff draining towards the lower 

areas in the southeast corner of the parcel. 

Apart from the gravel access road and meter pad, the entire area within the fenced project 
boundary will be restored to a low-maintenance seed mix, including the area below the solar 
panels. A “pollinator friendly” seed mix designed to grow no more than 2 feet tall will be selected 
in accordance with Minnesota Department of Transportation native seed mix design guidelines. 

 Beau Kennedy with the Goodhue SWCD reviewed the application materials and offered the 
following comments:  

No official wetland determination has been made for this project area. However, I do not 
foresee any wetland impacts associated with the project site or the access road. The application 
references a MNDOT manual for selecting a proper mix on these sites, but I can’t find what the 
applicant has actually picked for a temporary and/or permanent seed mix for the facility. 



“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 3 of 4 

Listing a specific seed mix should be included when/if a CUP is approved to avoid any 
confusion down the road with contractors and subcontractors. 

 A level-1 Wetland Delineation Report completed by Area M Consulting on behalf of the Applicant 
indicated no wetlands were present in the project area.  

 The application notes that stormwater management measures will be determined by EVS, a 
licensed civil engineering firm. Measures will include an analysis of the existing topography and 
the use of control logs and silt fences where necessary.  

An erosion control/stormwater management plan is customarily submitted for administrative 
review at the time of building permit application. 

 The Applicant stated they conducted a site visit and visual impact analysis and stated that there 
would be a minimal visual impact on nearby properties. There is no vegetative screening existing 
at the site or proposed. There is some topographic relief in the area the will limit some views of 
the project area, however much of it will be visible. The Planning Commission should consider 
whether any screening of the proposed SES is warranted.  

 A 6-foot tall chain-link fence with a 1-foot barbed wire top will be constructed around the 
perimeter of the project area for security.   

 Ample room exists on the property to fulfill GCZO off-street parking requirements.  

 Construction is expected to last 9 months from April to December 2019. Construction crews 
would operate from 8:00 AM to 6:00 PM daily.  

 A Cultural Resource Literature Review completed by Area M Consulting on behalf of the 
Applicant indicated no cultural resources were identified in the project area.  

Maintenance/Decommissioning: 
 The project is subject to issuance of a Building Permit and must be constructed according to 

applicable building code requirements. The project will be inspected by County Building 
Inspections Staff and the State Electrical Inspector.  In addition, Planning and Zoning Staff will 
inspect the project upon completion to ensure conformance with applicable zoning requirements. 

 MN 121819 LLC has a long-term maintenance plan to ensure safety, reliable operation, and 
production of the system. Monitoring and metering equipment installed on site will alert the 
maintenance team in real-time of a system performance issue.  

 The Applicant has prepared a Decommissioning Agreement between MN 121819 LLC and 
Jonathan and Lora Luhman that includes removal of all equipment to a depth of 2-3 feet, 
timelines for removal, and the establishment of a financial security. The Applicant has estimated 
total costs for decommissioning to be $87,767 and has estimated the salvage value of reclaimed 
materials to be $86,126. 

Per GCZO Article 19, the applicant may be required to provide a financial surety at up to 125% of 
the estimated decommissioning cost. The county has not typically exercised the right to financial 
assurance requirements for similar solar installations.  The Planning Advisory Commission and 
County Board will need to decide if the County will require financial assurance to cover 
anticipated decommissioning costs. 
 

Draft Findings of Fact: 
The following staff findings shall be amended to reflect concerns conveyed during the PAC meeting 
and public hearing. 
 

1. The proposed Solar Garden does not appear injurious to the use and enjoyment of properties in 
the immediate vicinity for uses already permitted, nor would it substantially diminish and impair 
property values in the immediate vicinity. The use appears harmonious with the established uses 
in the vicinity. 

2. The establishment of the proposed Solar Garden is not anticipated to impede the normal and 
orderly development and improvement of surrounding vacant property for uses predominant to 
the area. The use is proposed to meet all development standards of the Goodhue County Zoning 



“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 4 of 4 

Ordinance and it does not appear incompatible with adjacent land uses. 

3. A review of the applicants submitted project summary indicates adequate utilities, access roads, 
drainage, and other necessary facilities are available to accommodate the proposed use.  

4. The submitted plans identify means to provide sufficient off-street parking and loading space to 
serve the proposed use and meet the Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance’s parking requirements.  

5. The submitted plans detail adequate measures to prevent or control offensive odor, fumes, dust, 
noise, and vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance. Furthermore, the applicants’ 
lighting plans appear capable of controlling lights in such a manner that no disturbance to 
neighboring properties will result. 

Staff recommendation is based on the review of the submitted application and project area prior to 
the public hearing. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
LUM Staff recommends the Planning Advisory Commission  

• adopt the staff report into the record;  
• adopt the findings of fact;  
• accept the application, testimony, exhibits, and other evidence presented into the record; and 

 

Recommend that the County Board of Commissioners APPROVE the request for a CUP submitted 
by MN 121819 LLC (applicant) and Jonathan and Lora Luhman (owners) for a Utility-Scale 
Photovoltaic Ground 1 Megawatt Solar Energy System (SES) occupying approximately 6.65 acres. 
Subject to the following conditions: 

1. Activities shall be conducted according to submitted plans, specifications, and narrative 
unless modified by a condition of this CUP;  

2. The project shall be decommissioned according to Article 19 Section 6 of the Goodhue County 
Zoning Ordinance and submitted plans; 

3. A decommissioning agreement between the landowner and MN 121819 LLC shall be 
maintained to ensure reclamation of the area; 

4. LUM staff shall be notified by the landowner or solar company 30 days prior to ownership 
transfer or operator changes; 

5. Applicants shall communicate with Beau Kennedy, Wetlands Coordinator with the Goodhue 
SWCD to ensure compliance with applicable Wetlands Rules prior to completion of any site 
grading/construction and/or submittal of the Building Permit Application; 

6. A stormwater management and erosion control plan shall be submitted for administrative 
review as part of the Building Permit Application for the project;  

7. Applicants shall work with the Goodhue County Soil and Water Conservation District to 
determine an appropriate seed mix to establish on disturbed areas of the site; 

8. Applicants shall obtain Building Permit approvals from the Goodhue County Land Use 
Management Department prior to establishing the use; 

9. Compliance with Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance including, but not limited to, Article 19 
Solar Energy Systems (SES) and Article 21 (Agriculture Protection District).  The applicant 
shall request a final inspection of the project for compliance with applicable zoning 
requirements upon completion of the project; 

10. Compliance with all necessary State and Federal registrations, permits, licensing, and 
regulations; 

11. This CUP shall expire 30 years from the date of approval unless terminated prior to that date. 

 





























































































































































 
 

 

“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 1 of 4 

Environmental Health | Land Surveying | GIS 
Telephone:  651.385.3223 

Fax:  651.385.3098 

Lisa M. Hanni, L.S. Director 
Building | Planning | Zoning  
Telephone: 651.385.3104 
Fax: 651.385.3106 

Goodhue County Land Use Management 
Goodhue County Government Center | 509 West Fifth Street | Red Wing, Minnesota 55066 

 County Surveyor / Recorder 

To:  Planning Commission 
From: Land Use Management  
Meeting Date: February 11, 2019 
Report date:  February 1, 2019 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: Request for CUP for a Utility-Scale Solar Energy System (SES) 
Request for a CUP submitted by MN 121819 LLC (applicant) and Paul Betcher (owners) for a Utility-
Scale Photovoltaic Ground 1 Megawatt Solar Energy System (SES) occupying approximately 5.63 
acres. Parcel 33.027.0400. TBD CTY 9 BLVD, Goodhue, MN 55027. Part of the NE ¼ of Sect 27 Twp 
111 Range 15 in Goodhue Township. A1 Zoned District. 
 
Application Information: 
Applicant: MN 121819 LLC (applicant) and Paul Betcher (owners) 
Address of zoning request: TBD CTY 9 BLVD, Goodhue, MN 55027 
Parcel(s): 33.027.0400 
Abbreviated Legal: Part of the NE ¼ of Sect 27 Twp 111 Range 15 in Goodhue Township  
Township Information: Goodhue Township issued a Township Zoning Approval for the request on 
1/21/19.  No conditions were cited. 
Zoning District: A1 (Agriculture Protection District) 
 
Attachments and links: 
Application and submitted project summary (excerpt of submitted materials; full submittal available 
from  LUM Department upon request) 
Site Map(s) 
Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance (GCZO): 
http://www.co.goodhue.mn.us/DocumentCenter/View/2428  
 
Background:  
The applicant has submitted a CUP request to construct and operate a one (1) Megawatt (MW) 
photovoltaic (PV) utility-scale solar garden on approximately 5.63 acres of leased land located in 
Goodhue Township that is currently owned by Paul Betcher. The project would be developed in 
conjunction with the State of Minnesota Solar Garden program and Xcel Energy's Solar Rewards 
Community Program. The program allows developers to design, permit, own, and operate solar 
energy systems and sell the generated power directly to consumers. Upon completion, the Solar 
Garden would connect to Xcel Energy’s distribution grid and generate up to 1 MW of energy annually 
over the next 25 years.   

Per Goodhue County regulations, Solar Energy Systems (SES) that are the primary use of the land 
and are designed to primarily provide energy to off-site users or export to the wholesale market may 
be conditionally permitted as a “Utility-Scale SES” within the County’s A1 zoned districts.    

Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance: Article 4 Conditional/Interim Uses 
No CUP/IUP shall be recommended by the County Planning Commission unless said Commission specifies 
facts in their findings for each case which establish the proposed CUP/IUP will not be injurious to the use and 
enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, will not 
substantially diminish and impair property values within the immediate vicinity, will not impede the normal 
and orderly development and improvement of surrounding vacant property for uses predominant to the 
area, that adequate measures have been, or will be, taken to provide utilities, access roads, drainage and 
other necessary facilities, to provide sufficient off-street parking and loading space, to control offensive odor, 
fumes, dust, noise and vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance, and to control lighted signs 

http://www.co.goodhue.mn.us/DocumentCenter/View/2428


“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 2 of 4 

Project Summary:  
Property Information: 
 The approximately 5.63-acre site to be leased by the applicant is currently used for row-crop 

agriculture (corn and soybeans) by the owner.  

The 159-acre Betcher property includes a dwelling, a registered feedlot, tilled cropland, and 
pasture areas. There is an existing 1 MW SES located on the property directly south of the 
proposed site. The site was approved February 2017 (CUP Z17-0005) and installation was 
completed in the fall of 2018. 

Adjacent land uses include agriculture and low-density residential. 

The nearest residence is located approximately 500 feet northeast of the proposed facility (Kimm 
Burns). The Goodhue City limits abut the site to the west.  

 Adjacent zoning districts include A1 (Agriculture Protection) to north, east, and south; A3 (Urban 
Fringe)/City of Goodhue to the west. 

Solar Array: 
 The solar array is proposed to include 4046 solar modules (panels) installed in 6 rows spaced 38 

feet apart.   

Single-axis tracker racks tilted at 30 degrees will hold up solar panels, reaching a typical height of 
10 feet above grade.  

The racking will be installed with piles that are anchored into the ground to an appropriate depth 
based on detailed structural and geotechnical analysis. 

The solar array will interconnect to the power grid via a pad-mounted transformer at the north 
edge of the project area, facilitating connection to an existing Xcel Energy circuit. 

 An existing driveway access to CTY 9 BLVD servicing the established SES to the south will also be 
used for the new site. The 12-foot wide access drive is composed of crushed aggregate. 
Emergency vehicle access appears adequate to service the facility. 

A recorded ingress/egress easement is not required for the property given the site is to be leased 
and all land to be crossed to access the site will remain under common ownership. 

A separate fire number will be required for the new project site. 

 Once constructed, traffic to the site would be limited to four visits per year (quarterly) by two 
maintenance personnel to perform routine maintenance, in addition to any unplanned 
maintenance.  During the first few years of operation two vegetation maintenance personnel will 
visit the site a handful of times per year and then an anticipated four times per year for the 
duration of the project.  

 The solar garden is sited to comply with all GCZO setback requirements for Solar Energy 
Systems. 

Landscaping/Drainage: 
 The site slopes generally from south to the north with stormwater runoff draining towards the 

lower areas in the northwest corner of the parcel. 

Apart from the gravel access road and meter pad, the entire area within the fenced project 
boundary will be restored to a low-maintenance seed mix, including the area below the solar 
panels. A “pollinator friendly” seed mix designed to grow no more than 2 feet tall will be selected 
in accordance with Minnesota Department of Transportation native seed mix design guidelines. 

 A level-1 Wetland Delineation Report completed by Area M Consulting on behalf of the Applicant 
indicated no wetlands were present in the project area.  

 Beau Kennedy with the Goodhue SWCD reviewed the application materials and offered the 
following comments:  

No official wetland determination has been made for this portion of the solar project. However, 
I do not foresee any wetlands present within the project area. Also, the first facility constructed 



“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 3 of 4 

in 2018 on this farm witnessed some significant erosion problems on the north facing steep 
slopes. Developer should take steps to assure no downstream sedimentation during and after 
construction when developing panel layouts and SWPPP. 

 The application notes that stormwater management measures will be determined by EVS, a 
licensed civil engineering firm. Measures will include an analysis of the existing topography and 
the use of control logs and silt fences where necessary.  

An erosion control/stormwater management plan is customarily submitted for administrative 
review at the time of building permit application. 

 The Applicant stated they conducted a site visit and visual impact analysis and stated that there 
would be a minimal visual impact on nearby properties. There is no vegetative screening existing 
at the site or proposed. Crops grown around the site provide some cover during the growing 
season. Screening was not required for the existing SES installation to the south. The Planning 
Commission should consider whether any screening of the proposed SES is warranted.  

 A 6-foot tall chain-link fence with a 1-foot barbed wire top will be constructed around the 
perimeter of the project area for security.   

 Ample room exists on the property to fulfill GCZO off-street parking requirements.  

 Construction is expected to last 9 months from April to December 2019. Construction crews 
would operate from 8:00 AM to 6:00 PM daily.  

 A Cultural Resource Literature Review completed by Area M Consulting on behalf of the 
Applicant indicated no cultural resources were identified in the project area.  

Maintenance/Decommissioning: 
 The project is subject to issuance of a Building Permit and must be constructed according to 

applicable building code requirements. The project will be inspected by County Building 
Inspections Staff and the State Electrical Inspector.  In addition, Planning and Zoning Staff will 
inspect the project upon completion to ensure conformance with applicable zoning requirements. 

 MN 121819 LLC has a long-term maintenance plan to ensure safety, reliable operation, and 
production of the system. Monitoring and metering equipment installed on site will alert the 
maintenance team in real-time of a system performance issue.  

 The Applicant has prepared a Decommissioning Agreement between MN 121819 LLC and Paul 
Betcher that includes removal of all equipment to a depth of 2-3 feet, timelines for removal, and 
the establishment of a financial security. The Applicant has estimated total costs for 
decommissioning to be $87,767 and has estimated the salvage value of reclaimed materials to be 
$86,126. 

Per GCZO Article 19, the applicant may be required to provide a financial surety at up to 125% of 
the estimated decommissioning cost. The county has not typically exercised the right to financial 
assurance requirements for similar solar installations.  The Planning Advisory Commission and 
County Board will need to decide if the County will require financial assurance to cover 
anticipated decommissioning costs. 
 

Draft Findings of Fact: 
The following staff findings shall be amended to reflect concerns conveyed during the PAC meeting 
and public hearing. 
 

1. The proposed Solar Garden does not appear injurious to the use and enjoyment of properties in 
the immediate vicinity for uses already permitted, nor would it substantially diminish and impair 
property values in the immediate vicinity. The use appears harmonious with the established uses 
in the vicinity. There is an existing Solar Garden existing directly south of the subject site that has 
been functioning without record of complaint from neighboring residences. 

2. The establishment of the proposed Solar Garden is not anticipated to impede the normal and 
orderly development and improvement of surrounding vacant property for uses predominant to 
the area. The use is proposed to meet all development standards of the Goodhue County Zoning 



“To effectively promote the safety, health, and well-being of our residents” 
www.co.goodhue.mn.us 

Page 4 of 4 

Ordinance and it does not appear incompatible with adjacent land uses. 

3. A review of the applicants submitted project summary indicates adequate utilities, access roads, 
drainage, and other necessary facilities are available to accommodate the proposed use.  

4. The submitted plans identify means to provide sufficient off-street parking and loading space to 
serve the proposed use and meet the Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance’s parking requirements.  

5. The submitted plans detail adequate measures to prevent or control offensive odor, fumes, dust, 
noise, and vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance. Furthermore, the applicants’ 
lighting plans appear capable of controlling lights in such a manner that no disturbance to 
neighboring properties will result. 

Staff recommendation is based on the review of the submitted application and project area prior to 
the public hearing. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
LUM Staff recommends the Planning Advisory Commission  

• adopt the staff report into the record;  
• adopt the findings of fact;  
• accept the application, testimony, exhibits, and other evidence presented into the record; and 

 

Recommend that the County Board of Commissioners APPROVE the request for a CUP submitted 
by MN 121819 LLC (applicant) and Paul Betcher (owners) for a Utility-Scale Photovoltaic Ground 1 
Megawatt Solar Energy System (SES) occupying approximately 5.63 acres. 
Subject to the following conditions: 

1. Activities shall be conducted according to submitted plans, specifications, and narrative 
unless modified by a condition of this CUP;  

2. The project shall be decommissioned according to Article 19 Section 6 of the Goodhue County 
Zoning Ordinance and submitted plans; 

3. A decommissioning agreement between the landowner and MN 121819 LLC shall be 
maintained to ensure reclamation of the area; 

4. LUM staff shall be notified by the landowner or solar company 30 days prior to ownership 
transfer or operator changes; 

5. Applicants shall communicate with Beau Kennedy, Wetlands Coordinator with the Goodhue 
SWCD to ensure compliance with applicable Wetlands Rules prior to completion of any site 
grading/construction and/or submittal of the Building Permit Application; 

6. A stormwater management and erosion control plan shall be submitted for administrative 
review as part of the Building Permit Application for the project;  

7. Applicants shall work with the Goodhue County Soil and Water Conservation District to 
determine an appropriate seed mix to establish on disturbed areas of the site; 

8. Applicants shall obtain Building Permit approvals from the Goodhue County Land Use 
Management Department prior to establishing the use; 

9. Compliance with Goodhue County Zoning Ordinance including, but not limited to, Article 19 
Solar Energy Systems (SES) and Article 21 (Agriculture Protection District).  The applicant 
shall request a final inspection of the project for compliance with applicable zoning 
requirements upon completion of the project; 

10. Compliance with all necessary State and Federal registrations, permits, licensing, and 
regulations; 

11. This CUP shall expire 30 years from the date of approval unless terminated prior to that date. 

 
















































